DO NOT REMOVE FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEAL OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 19-0200

ROOF SERVICE OF BRIDGEPORT, Defendant Below, Petitioner,

BOYTHE NASH GAISER, CLERK SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRIGINIA

v.

ROBERT JOSEPH TRENT and CHARLOTTE TRENT, his wife, Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

Honorable Christopher McCarthy, Judge Circuit Court of Harrison County Civil Action No. 16-C-333-3

BRIEF OF THE PETITIONER

Counsel for Petitioners

Ancil G. Ramey WV Bar No. 3013 Steptoe & Johnson PLLC P.O. Box 2195 Huntington WV 25722-2195 T: 304.526.8133

F: 304.526.8133 F: 304.933.8738

ancil.ramey@steptoe-johnson.com

Counsel for Respondents

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The Circuit Court erred by failing to award judgment to an employer arising from an accident which occurred after an employee had returned to a jobsite in the employee's personal vehicle for purposes of retrieving scrap metal for sale the proceeds of which the employee would retain after he had earlier returned his employer's vehicle to his employer's place of business at the end of the workday.
- 2. The Circuit Court erred by failing to exclude evidence alleging that a plaintiff's physical limitations were caused by an accident when the plaintiff's treating physician testified that those physical limitations were not caused by the accident.
- 3. The Circuit Court erred by failing to (a) include on the verdict form in a respondent superior case the employer's independent contractor defense where evidence was admitted in support of that defense and (b) include on the verdict form in a negligence case whether an injured plaintiff's negligence contributed to his injuries where evidence was submitted in support of the defense of comparative contributory negligence.
- 4. The Circuit Court erred by failing to set aside a jury verdict attributing no negligence to a plaintiff who admitted at trial that he did not look both ways before crossing a street immediately before stepping into the street and being struck by a vehicle.
- 5. The Circuit Court erred by failing to set aside the jury's verdict of \$250,000 for the plaintiff's past general damages and \$250,000 for his future general damages, and by failing to set aside the jury's verdict to the plaintiff's spouse of \$250,000 for loss of consortium, where such awards were redundant, excessive, and against the clear weight of the evidence, warranting a new trial or remittitur.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The Plaintiffs, Robert and Charlotte Trent ["Mr. Trent," "Ms. Trent," or "Plaintiffs"] filed suit against the Defendants, Bruce Wilfong ["Mr. Wilfong"], Roof Service of Bridgeport, Inc. ["Roof Service" or "Petitioner"], and John K. Cole ["Mr. Cole" or "Owner"] on September 9, 2016, arising from an automobile accident on June 9, 2015, in which a vehicle operated by Mr. Wilfong collided with Mr. Trent outside Mr. Trent's home.

Concerning Roof Service and its Owner, the complaint alleged that they "were negligent, reckless, and careless in hiring the Defendant, Bruce A. Wilfong, and permitting him to drive on or near the Plaintiff's residence."

At the close of discovery, Roof Service moved for summary judgment, noting that the evidence was undisputed that Mr. Wilfong was not acting within the course and scope of his employment at the time of the accident because at the end of his workday on the Plaintiffs' residence, he had returned his company vehicle back to the company, retrieved his personal vehicle, had traveled back to the Plaintiffs' residence for purposes of retrieving scrap to sell the proceeds of which he would retain, and was involved in a collision with Mr. Trent.⁵ Alternatively, Roof Service argued that Mr. Wilfong was an independent contractor for purposes of the salvaging

¹ The claims against Mr. Wilfong were settled prior to trial. App. at 352.

² The claims against Mr. Cole were voluntarily dismissed prior to trial. App. at 349.

³ App. at 9.

⁴ App. at 10.

⁵ App. at 52-61.

of scrap and, accordingly, it was not responsible for any of Mr. Wilfong's acts or omissions conducted as an independent contractor.⁶

In opposition to Roof Service's summary judgment motion, the Plaintiffs argued, "[W]hether Mr. Wilfong was picking up scrap aluminum for his purpose was irrelevant. These defendants had a contractual obligation to remove the scrap "7 In other words, the Plaintiffs maintained, even if Mr. Wilfong had returned the company truck to Roof Service and returned to the worksite in his own vehicle and his retrieval of the scrap provided no financial benefit to Roof Service but was for Mr. Wilfong's exclusive financial benefit, Roof Service was nevertheless responsible for a collision between Mr. Wilfong's personal vehicle and Mr. Trent because someone had to remove the scrap.

Similarly, in their response to the summary judgment motion on the independent contractor issue, although the Plaintiffs conceded that the four factors are (1) selection and engagement of the servant; (2) payment of compensation; (3) power of dismissal; and (4) power of control, and that there was no evidence that Roof Service either paid Mr. Wilfong to retrieve the aluminum scrap or had directed him to do so, they argued because Roof Service had the power to pay Mr. Wilfong or direct him not to retrieve the aluminum scrap, his status could not be one of independent contractor.8

Eventually, on September 10, 2018, one week before trial, the Circuit Court entered a twopage order denying Roof Service's motion for summary judgment.⁹ The order contains but a single

⁶ App. at 61-62.

⁷ App. at 123.

⁸ App. at 123-124.

⁹ App. at 589-590.

legal citation – to a case involving the legal principle that for purposes of a summary judgment motion the evidence must be considered in a light most favorable to the non-moving party.¹⁰

The order identified five "material issues of fact": (1) "the contract between the parties in regard to the removal of debris;" (2) "whether or not there was compensation received by Defendant Bruce Wilfong for the removal of the debris in question;" (3) "whether or not Bruce Wilfong actually ceased employment with Defendant Roof Service... on the date of the accident;" (4) "that the removal of the debris in question was a matter of custom and practice and part of the Trent roofing job;" and (5) "upon whose authority (permission) did Defendant Bruce Wilfong return to the Trent residence to remove debris."

The order is silent on both (1) where in the evidentiary record was there any support for the conclusion that these were genuinely contested issues and (2) how any of them bore any relevance to the questions of whether Mr. Wilfong was within the course and scope of his employment at the time he struck Mr. Trent with his personal vehicle on the street while leaving with the scrap aluminum and whether he was acting at that time as an independent contractor rather than as an employee of Roof Service.

In addition to the absence of evidence meeting this Court's threshold for respondeat superior liability, Roof Service filed several pre-trial motions in the wake of the denial of its motion for summary judgment.

First, Roof Service moved in limine to preclude Mr. Trent from presenting any evidence or argument concerning the permanency of his injuries where none of his medical providers and

¹⁰ App. at 589.

¹¹ App. at 590.

none of his medical records indicate, to a reasonable degree of medical certainty, that he suffers from any permanent injuries.¹² Second, Roof Service tendered a verdict form that included an interrogatory on its independent contractor defense.¹³ Finally, Roof Service tendered a verdict form that included an interrogatory regarding whether Mr. Trent's negligence contributed to the accident.¹⁴

B. TRIAL

The trial of this case commenced on September 17, 2018,¹⁵ a week after the Circuit Court entered its summary judgment order.

It began with Plaintiffs' counsel essentially telling the jury in opening statement that unless the Plaintiffs got something from Roof Service, they would not have a full recovery:

Now, you got to remember, Mr. Cole is out of this case, he's a representative of the corporation. Wilfong is gone. The only person you've got to deal with here today, is a corporation. That's it.

The reason why you have a corporation is that it insulates Mr. Cole from liability. It doesn't cost him anything, there's nothing you can do about Mr. Cole. We can't take money from Mr. Cole. Okay.

We can take money from the corporation, and these people deserve to be compensated for their injuries.¹⁶

The first witness at trial was the officer who investigated the accident.¹⁷ Based on the statements of Mr. Trent and Mr. Wilfong on the date of the accident, the officer testified that it

¹² App. at 160-161.

¹³ App. at 150.

¹⁴ App. at 151.

¹⁵ App. at 614.

¹⁶ App. at 620.

¹⁷ App. at 639.

appeared to have occurred when Mr. Wilfong was backing up his truck to load scrap metal when he struck Mr. Trent.¹⁸

Prior to the collision, Mr. Trent reported to the officer that he had observed Mr. Wilfong's truck as it passed Mr. Trent's location, 19 but the officer's testimony offers no insight as to why Mr. Trent did not observe Mr. Wilfong's truck as it was backing.

The officer confirmed that a pedestrian, like Mr. Trent, has a duty to look both ways before crossing a street; that if Mr. Trent had looked both ways, he should have seen Mr. Wilfong's truck; and that there was nothing based on the officer's observations that would have prevented Mr. Trent from seeing Mr. Wilfong's truck if Mr. Trent had looked both ways before proceeding to cross the street when he was struck.²⁰

The Plaintiffs also called the Owner of Roof Service as a witness.²¹ The Owner explained that his company had put new roofs on the Plaintiffs' residence on two occasions.²² He explained that the roofing job was fixed price of \$10,900 with any additional charges the result of additional work, such as on their gutters.²³ The services to be rendered included "removing old roofing, clean up, and haul away."²⁴ The Owner explained that he billed the Plaintiffs once the job was completed even after the accident because the accident "had nothing to do with" the job.²⁵

¹⁸ App. at 645.

¹⁹ App. at 647.

²⁰ App. at 653-656.

²¹ App. at 676.

²² App. at 678.

²³ App. at 678, 681.

²⁴ App. at 679.

²⁵ App. at 681.

With respect to Roof Service's alternative argument that Mr. Wilfong would have been acting as an independent contractor relative to his separate salvaging and sale of debris, the Owner explained, "[H]e asked me back 20 years ago, if he could have the scrap metal that was only these roofs. . . . And I told him he could have it, but he had to do it on his own time, and he had to use his vehicle." In other words, the salvaging and sale of debris by Mr. Wilfong would be on his own time, at his own expense, and at his own risk. As the Owner explained, "He has five kids and I tried to help him." He also testified that he received nothing from Mr. Wilfong's salvage activities, but that it was purely for Mr. Wilfong's benefit. 28

When asked whose decision it was for Mr. Wilfong to return to the Trent residence on his own time and in his own vehicle to salvage scrap metal, the Owner testified, "He made that decision."²⁹ The Owner also testified that whether Mr. Wilfong removed the debris, or the debris was otherwise removed during the workday, Roof Service had an obligation to remove it and the amount it received for the roofing job was the same.³⁰

As the Owner explained, "it was either going to the dump, or if he wanted it, he could have it. . . . If he thought he could make some money at it, fine with me," and if salvaging scrap was part of Mr. Wilfong's employment duties, the Owner asked, "[W]hy would he leave the job, take the company truck home, and get his own vehicle and clean this up, because that was part of the

²⁶ App. at 682-683.

²⁷ App. at 683.

²⁸ App. at 706-707. When asked, "Does Mr. Wilfong ever get paid then for pick up the scrap metal?" the Owner testified, "Never. Never. He makes his money from when he resells the scrap." App. at 712.

²⁹ App. at 687.

³⁰ App. at 688-689.

³¹ App. at 689, 690.

agreement. . . . He didn't use the company truck."³² The Owner testified that all of Roof Service employees "drive their own vehicles to work" and "once they get to our place, then they use company vehicles."³³

More significantly, the Owner testified that on the date of the accident, Mr. Wilfong returned the company vehicle at the end of the workday, retrieved his own personal vehicle, and then returned to the Trent residence for his independent salvage work even though the distance between the company and the Trent residence is only a "block" taking "three or four minutes.³⁴

Obviously, if Mr. Wilfong understood that he was working for Roof Service during his salvage operations at worksites, neither he nor any other reasonable human being would get in his company vehicle, drive it one block, park the company vehicle, get in his personal vehicle, and then drive back in his personal vehicle one block to complete work for his employer.

The Plaintiffs also called Mr. Wilfong as a witness at trial.³⁵ Like the Owner, Mr. Wilfong testified that the accident occurred after he had returned to the Plaintiffs' residence on his own time and in his own vehicle to salvage scrap metal.³⁶ He testified that, "I pulled up on the driveway,

³² App. at 692. The Owner also noted that during an earlier roofing job, they had followed the same procedure, and the Plaintiffs never complained about it. App. at 693-694. The Owner testified that he visited Mr. Trent on several occasions in the hospital after the accident; that Mr. Trent "is a nice man;" that the Trents allowed the Owner's daughter to place political signs in their yard after the accident; and that when they met after the accident at a Dollar General on which Roof Services was performing a job, they "shook hands." App. at 696.

³³ App. at 707-708.

³⁴ App. at 710-711.

³⁵ App. at 820.

³⁶ App. at 822-823.

squared the truck up, backed down the street, approximately 30 feet, and I heard Mr. Trent yell."³⁷ At the time of the accident, Mr. Wilfong estimated that he was backing his truck at two to three miles per hour.³⁸ Mr. Wilfong testified that he found Mr. Trent in the street with his head against the sidewalk, and that he called 911.³⁹

Mr. Wilfong explained that his vision of Mr. Trent may have been impaired by a camper placed on the back of his pickup truck.⁴⁰ He also testified that he knew that Mr. Trent must have crossed the street behind him after he had moved forward positioning his vehicle to back up because "he wasn't there when I went up the street."⁴¹ Mr. Wilfong testified that on the date of the accident, Mr. Trent came out of his house several times because Mr. Trent was anxiously waiting on a UPS or FedEx truck to arrive with medicine for his wife who was in the hospital.⁴² This, in part, may explain why Mr. Trent's focus was down the street from where Mr. Wilfong was backing and Mr. Trent's failure to check in Mr. Wilfong's direction before stepping into the street.

With respect to his salvage work, Mr. Wilfong also testified that it was not part of his job duties, nor was it a bonus for work performed for Roof Service.⁴³ Instead, as Mr. Wilfong testified, "He was just going to throw it away, I was going to make some extra money, that's all."⁴⁴ Mr.

³⁷ App. at 823.

³⁸ App. at 856.

³⁹ App. at 828.

⁴⁰ App. at 825.

⁴¹ App. at 835.

⁴² App. at 851-852.

⁴³ App. at 848.

⁴⁴ App. at 848.

Wilfong confirmed the Owner's testimony that he always retained all of the funds from his independent salvage operations that he spent "on my kids or pay [b]ills with it." When asked if "Roof Service [has] anything to do with . . . you picking up the scrap and turning it in for money," Mr. Wilfong responded, "No. Nothing," and that all of his salvage work was done "On my time. I was off the clock. I was on my own time."

Ms. Trent was then called as a witness at trial.⁴⁷ She explained that on the day of the accident, she was in a local hospital recovering from knee replacement surgery.⁴⁸ After the accident, Mr. Trent, who was eighty-one years old at the time,⁴⁹ was brought to the same hospital.⁵⁰ She testified about her husband's discomfort after the accident, his subsequent loss of weight, and his inability to perform some of the yard and house work.⁵¹ She testified that before the accident, both she and her husband would go to the local mall and walk, but after the accident, he is less ambulatory.⁵²

She conceded that her husband had heart problems before the accident, including open heart surgery in 2011, but that he was still able thereafter to lead a normal life.⁵³ She also admitted that **before the accident**, her husband had substantial problems with arthritis throughout his body,

⁴⁵ App. at 858.

⁴⁶ App. at 859.

⁴⁷ App. at 865.

⁴⁸ App. at 868.

⁴⁹ App. at 893.

⁵⁰ App. at 868.

⁵¹ App. at 870-871. She conceded, however, that he was still able to do dishes, laundry, and other household tasks. App. at 874.

⁵² App. at 871-872. Although she testified that her husband occasionally used a cane outside the house that, "he doesn't use the cane constantly in the house." App. at 886.

⁵³ App. at 878.

had degenerative joint disease, had a fusion of his right ankle, had one leg substantially shorter following surgery, had a surgical repair of his arthritic wrist, had plates and screws placed in his right arm after it had been broken, had arthritic hips for which he had been treated with physical therapy, and had a severe arthritic condition of his right shoulder.⁵⁴

Indeed, she admitted that years before the accident, "he'd walk so far and he felt like he had a lump of concrete in the calf of his leg. And he'd have to stop and wait for a few minutes before he could resume walking."55

After the accident, she testified that her husband was issued a handicap parking sticker, but that difficulty in securing convenient parking spaces had limited their ability to attend church and football games after the accident.⁵⁶

Ms. Trent indicated that because of problems with his elbow and shoulder, her husband was unable to sketch, work crossword puzzles, or engage in similar activities in the same manner as before the accident,⁵⁷ though she admitted that "he had a horrible right shoulder with arthritis before the accident" and when presented with examples of his post-accident signature, including one in 2018, they were "exceptional." ⁵⁹

⁵⁴ App. at 942-943, 953, 955.

⁵⁵ App. at 952-953.

⁵⁶ App. at 875-878.

⁵⁷ App. at 878-881.

⁵⁸ And, Mr. Trent's treating physician testified that he could not determine whether any of Mr. Trent's post-accident limitation of motion was attributable to the accident or existed prior to the accident. App. at 463 ("I don't know.").

⁵⁹ App. at 881, 960. Ms. Trent tried to explain how her husband's handwriting began to improve dramatically shortly after the accident through 2018, by stating, "But have him sign today and see what it looks like." App. at 960.

Also, on cross-examination, she admitted that his physical therapy records reflected that her husband was able to walk at the mall and that he reported that he was ready to be discharged from physical therapy just a few months after the accident because, as indicated in his medical records, "he could walk 500 to 1,000 yards." She also admitted that in another record a year after the accident, it was reported her husband was "able to walk 501 to 1,000 yards without symptoms" and he had reported that he was able to walk for "one hour." 61

Other than the foregoing, Ms. Trent offered no traditional substantive testimony in support of a claim for loss of spousal consortium.

Mr. Trent was then called as a witness at trial.⁶² He confirmed that on the date of the accident he was awaiting the delivery of medicine for his wife.⁶³ He stated that he crossed the street to put away his neighbors' garbage can because they were out-of-town and then returned to the sidewalk where he was looking in the opposite direction of Mr. Wilfong's vehicle for a FedEx truck⁶⁴ when he was struck by Mr. Wilfong's vehicle.⁶⁵ He stated that prior to being struck, he did see Mr. Wilfong's truck go past him on the street, but he did not see Mr. Wilfong as he was backing

⁶⁰ App. at 944-945. Ms. Trent tried to explain away Mr. Trent's medical records by claiming his doctors "mess up" his medical records and that she did not "trust" the physical therapy records. App. at 945-946.

⁶¹ App. at 950-951.

⁶² App. at 963.

⁶³ App. at 965-966.

⁶⁴ App. at 990 ("I was looking in the other direction . . . I was expecting him [the FedEx truck] momentarily."); App. at 1025 ("I was looking to my right."); App. at 1027 ("I was concentrating on the right.").

⁶⁵ App. at 966.

up immediately before the collision.⁶⁶ He testified that because of the collision, he suffered a broken thumb, a fractured pelvis, and an injured elbow.⁶⁷

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