MONOT REVOVE EROM FILE

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEAL OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. <del>19-0220</del> 19-0200

# ROOF SERVICE OF BRIDGEPORT, INC., Defendant Below, Petitioner,

v.

ROBERT JOSEPH TRENT and CHARLOTTE TRENT, his wife, Plaintiffs Below, Respondents.

ISLIG 1-2 2019

Honorable Christopher McCarthy, Judge Circuit Court of Harrison County Civil Action No. 16-C-333-3

### BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENTS

#### Counsel for Petitioner

Ancil G. Ramey

WV Bar No. 3013
Steptoe & Johnson PLLC
P.O. Box 2195
Huntingtion, WV 25722-2195
T: 304-526-8133
F: 304-933-8738
ancil.ramey@steptoe-johnson.com

### Counsel for Respondents

Scot S. Dieringer
WV Bar No. 1015
Law Offices of Scot S. Dieringer

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Circuit Court Did Not Err by Failing to Award Judgment as a Matter of Law or in the Alternative for a New Trial in Favor of Defendant Corporation in Regard to the Scope of Employment Issue.

Roof Service filed "Defendant's Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law or in the Alternative for a New Trial". The Trents filed a response and memorandum in response to said motion. Oral argument was heard with the court subsequently issuing an order on February 15, 2019, denying said motion. I have restated the Court's ruling which includes finding of facts and conclusions of law which addressed the issues in regard to Respondeat Superior contained in this appeal as follows:

#### CIRCUIT COURT DECISION

### "Analysis and Conclusions of Law

A. The Court did not err in denying Summary Judgment and Judgment as a Matter of Law on the issue of whether Mr. Wilfong was acting within the scope of his employment.

Defendants numerous arguments regarding why the Court erred by failing to grant summary judgment and judgment as a matter of law on the issue of whether Mr. Wilfong was acting within the scope of his employment can be distilled down to two arguments: 1) the undisputed evidence fails to show that a master-servant relationship existed for purposes of imposing liability under the doctrine of respondeat superior; and, 2) even if a master-servant relationship existed, Mr. Wilfong's actions were, for various reasons, outside the course and scope of such employment.

1. The Court did not err in allowing the factfinder to determine the issue of whether a master-servant relationship existed.

Defendants first argue that the evidence conclusively failed to establish the existence of a master-servant relationship for purposes of the doctrine of respondeat superior. Defendants' argument is perplexing given that they stipulate, and the evidence unmistakably shows that, Mr. Wilfong was an employee of Defendants. Thus, rather than arguing that a master-servant relationship never existed, Defendants seemingly contend that the Court and the factfinder, in order to determine if Mr. Wilfong's actions at the time of the accident were within the course and scope and of his employment, should have analyzed whether the four elements bearing upon a master-servant relationship were present at the exact time of the accident.

This analysis overlooks that Mr. Wilfong testified that he was an employee of Defendants. Once the master-servant relationship is established, the inquiry shifts to a different analysis to determine whether the employee's actions were within the course and scope of his employment. Further, to this Court's knowledge, until presenting this argument in their post-trial memorandum, Defendants' have never denied that Mr. Wilfong was their employee. Rather, this Court had always understood Defendants' position to be that, although an employee, Mr. Wilfong's actions at the time of the accident were outside the course and scope of his employment. Nevertheless, even if the

Court were to undertake the analysis as suggested by Defendants, it cannot agree with Defendants' conclusion that the evidence indisputably fails to show a master-servant relationship at the time of the accident.

The question as to whether a person is an employee or an independent contractor depends on the facts in any given case and all elements must be considered together. *Spencer v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 148 W. Va. 111,116, 133 S.E.2d 735, 739 (1963)(citing 27 Am.Jur., Independent Contractor, § 5, page 485). In *Paxton v. Crabtree*, 184 W.Va. 237,400 S.E.2d 245 (1990), the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia set forth four factors for courts to consider when deciding whether a defendant is an "employer" who can be held vicariously liable for a contractor's negligence. In Syllabus Point S of *Paxton*, the Court stated that it is the power to control the subordinate's work that is determinative of whether an employer-employee relationship exists:

There are four general factors which bear upon whether a master-servant relationship exists for purposes of the doctrine of *respondeat superior*: (1) Selection and engagement of the servant; (2) Payment of compensation; (3) Power of dismissal; and (4) Power of control. The first three factors are not essential to the existence of the relationship; the fourth, the power of control, is determinative.

France v. S. Equip. Co., 22SW. Va. 1,7-8,689 S.E.2d 1,7-8 (2010).

Further, where the evidence relating to an independent contractor or employee is conflicting, or if not conflicting, where more than one inference can be derived therefrom, the question is one of fact for jury determination, but where the facts are such that only one reasonable inference can be drawn therefrom, the question is one of law for the court to decide. *Spencer v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 148 W. Va. 111,118, 133 S.E.2d 735,740 (1963)(citing 56 C.J.S. Master and Servant,§ 13; *Hicks v. Southern Ohio Quarries Co.*,116 W.Va.748, 182 S.E. 874; *Rice v. Builders Material Co.*, 120 W.Va. 585, 2 S.E.2d 527; *American Telephone & Telegraph Company v. Ohio* 

Valley Sand Co., 131 W.Va. 736, 50 S.E.2d 884).

Defendants contend that the evidence demonstrated that Roof Services did not select or engage Bruce Wilfong for purposes of salvaging scrap metal from the Plaintiff's property to be sold exclusively for Mr. Wilfong's financial benefit. This contention overlooks that the evidence showed that Defendants knew and allowed Mr. Wilfong to return to this job site (and every other job site) for the purpose of salvaging scrap metal; it further overlooks the evidence showing that cleaning up and hauling away debris, such as scrap metal, was part of the contract with Plaintiffs and, thus, Mr. Wilfong's actions benefited Defendants.

Defendants also contend that the evidence demonstrated that Roof Services did not pay Mr. Wilfong compensation for anything done after he returned the company vehicle at the end of his workday. This contention overlooks the testimony of Mr. Cole that it was Defendants' policy for many years that Mr. Wilfong was allowed to retrieve and sell scrap metal from the job sites as a bonus or a reward for having worked for Defendants for 35 years.

Finally, Defendants argue that Roof Services did not control Mr. Wilfong relative to his operation of his personal vehicle or personal activities. This overly broad contention ignores that Defendants, for years, were aware of and had allowed Mr. Wilfong to re-enter their job sites in his personal vehicle for the purpose of salvaging scrap metal. Thus, it can at least be inferred that Defendants did exercise control over Mr. Wilfong's actions in his personal vehicle, as pertains to him bringing such personal vehicle onto their job site. The Supreme Court of Appeals has noted, in regards to this determinative factor, the inquiry is "whether the right of control or supervision over the work done existed in the person for whom the work was done, and not the use of such control or supervision." *Spencer v. Travelers Ins. Co.*, 148 W. Va. 111, 117, 133 S.E.2d 735, 739

(1963). Here, Defendants controlled access to the job sites and could have, at any time, barred Mr. Wilfong from re-entering them to collect his bonus scrap, that Defendants never exercised such control is immaterial.

Thus, rather than categorically disproving a master-servant relationship at the time of the accident, the evidence at the time of Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment and Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law was conflicting, or if not conflicting, at least such that more than one inference could be derived from it and, thus, presented a question of fact properly determined by the jury.

2. The Court did not err in allowing the factfinder to determine issue of whether Mr. Wilfong's actions were within the course and scope of his employment.

In Griffith v. George Transfer & Rigging, Inc. 157 W.Va. 316, 201 S.E.2d 281 (1973), the Supreme Court of Appeals noted:

The universally recognized rule is that an employer is liable to a third person for any injury to his person or property which results proximately from tortious conduct of an employee acting within the scope of his employment. The negligent or tortious act may be imputed to the employer if the act of the employee was done in accordance with the expressed or implied authority of the employer.

157 W.Va. al 324-25, 201 S.E.2d at 287 (emphasis added). In *Griffith*, the Court discussed its holding in *Cochran v. Michaels*, 110 W.Va. 127, 157 S.E. 173 (1931), and noted the following language from Mechem on Agency, Second Edition, 1879:

[A] servant is acting within the course of his employment when he is engaged in doing, for his master, either the act consciously and specifically directed or any act which can fairly and reasonably be deemed to be an ordinary and natural incident or attribute of that act or a natural, direct and logical result of it. If in doing such an act, the servant acts negligently, that is negligence within the course of the employment.

In *Cochran*, the Court emphasized the need to examine the relation which the act bears to the employment and, in the syllabus, explained that "[a]n act specifically or impliedly directed by the master, or any conduct which is an ordinary and natural incident or result of that act, is within the scope of the employment."

As the Court noted in *Griffith*, "'[s]cope of employment' is a relative term and requires a consideration of surrounding circumstances including the character of the employment, the nature of the wrongful deed, the time and place of its commission and the purpose of the act." 157 W.Va, at 326,201 S.E.2d at 288.

The Court held in Syllabus Point four of *Griffith*, whether an agent is "acting within the scope of his employment and about his employer's business at the time of a collision, is *generally* a question of fact for the jury and a jury determination on that point will not be set aside *unless clearly wrong*." (emphasis added). *See also* Syl. Pt. 1, in part, *Laslo v. Griffith*,143 W.Va.469, 102 S.E.2d 894 (1958) ("When the facts relied upon to establish the existence of an agency are undisputed, and conflicting inferences cannot be drawn from such facts, the question of the existence of the agency is one of law for the court[]"); *Cremeans v. Maynard*,162 W.Va.74, 86, 246 S.E.2d 253, 259 (1978) (stating where evidence "conclusively' shows lack of authority and where conflicting inferences cannot be drawn" the court may decide issues of agency). Our Supreme Court cited the holding of the Supreme Court of California in *Mary M. v. City of Los Angeles*, as an example of when it would be appropriate for a court to remove such a determination from the purview of the factfinder:

Ordinarily, the determination whether an employee has acted within the scope of employment presents a question of fact; it becomes a question of law, however, when "the facts are undisputed and no conflicting inferences are possible." In some cases, the relationship between an employee's work

and wrongful conduct is so attenuated that a jury could not reasonably conclude that the act was within the scope of employment. 285 Cal.Rptr. 99, 814 P.2d at 1347 (citations omitted).

W. Virginia Reg"l Jail & Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B., 234 W.Va.492, 509, 766 S.E,2d 751, 768 (2014).

Defendants argue that the evidence regarding the course and scope of employment issue was undisputed such that they were entitled to Summary Judgment and Judgment as a Matter of Law. Defendants contend that "the evidence is undisputed that "[Mr. Wilfong] had not been directed by his employer to return to the worksite." This contention again overlooks evidence that Defendants were aware of and allowed Mr. Wilfong for years and years to return to job sites in his personal vehicle to salvage scrap metal; it also overlooks evidence that this was a regular practice that occurred on every job site. Defendants contend that "[Mr. Wilfong] was not being compensated by his employer at the time of the accident." This again overlooks Mr. Cole's testimony that retrieving and selling the scrap metal was a bonus or a reward for Mr. Wilfong in recognition of his years of service. Defendants contend that "[Mr. Wilfong's] employer exercised no direction or control over [the] personal salvage activities." This contention overlooks the evidence that Defendants themselves controlled the salvage activities by allowing them to occur, for years, on every job site. Defendants also contend that "[Mr. Wilfong'sl employer did not financially benefit from [the] salvage activities." This contention overlooks the evidence that removing and hauling away debris from the job site, such as scrap metal, was part of the contract with Plaintiff and, thus, Defendants arguably did derive a benefit from the salvage activities.

Defendants also contend that respondent superior liability for Mr. Wilfong's actions is barred by the "going and coming" rule. The "going and coming rule" has its foundations in workers

compensation law and is articulated in syllabus point two of *De Constantin v. Public Service Commission*, 75 W.Va. 32,83 S.E. 88 (1914). "[T]he doctrine of respondeat superior is not typically applicable while [an] employee is coming or going to work." *Pratt v. Freedom Bancshares, Inc.*, No. 18-0180, 2018 WL 6016075, at \*5 (W. Va. Nov. 16, 2018)(quoting *Courtless v. Jolliffe*,203 W.Va. 258, 263, 507 S.E.2d 136, 141 (1998)). "The reasoning underlying this rule is that the employee is being exposed to a risk identical to that of the general public; the risk is not imposed by the employer." *Id.* (quoting *Brown v. City of Wheeling*, 212 W.Va. 121, 126, 569 S.E.2d 197,202 (2002)).

The "going and coming rule" traditionally applies where the only evidence linking the employer to the accident was the fact that the employee was coming or going to work. *Courtless v. Joliliffe*, 203 W.Va. 258,263, 507 S.E.2d 136, 1 41 (1998). Various nuances of the rule may serve to alter its application where additional evidence exists linking the employer to the accident. *ld.* In Pratt, the Supreme Court of Appeals noted that the application of the "going and coming" rule may be altered

where additional evidence exists linking the employer to the accident[,]" such as when the use of the roadway is required in the performance of the employee's duties for the employer, when the employee is rendering an express or implied service to the employer, or when there is an incidental benefit to the employer that is not common to ordinary commuting trips. *Keller v. Temple*, 2013 WL 6118679, al \*4 (N.D.W.Va. Nov. 21, 2013)(citing *Courtless*, 507 S.E.2d at 141-142)

Pratt v. Freedom Bancshares, Inc., No. 18-0180, 2018 WL 6016075, at \*5 (W. Va. Nov.16, 2018). Here, the "going and coming rule" is not applicable because there is evidence that Mr. Wilfong's salvaging of scrap metal from the job site at least partially fulfilled one of the employer's contractual obligations to Plaintiffs, to clean up and haul away debris from the job site. This

evidence could reasonably be inferred to show that Mr. Wilfong was rendering an implied service to his employer or to show that Mr. Wilfong's actions had an incidental benefit to the employer that is not common to ordinary commuting trips.

Rather than categorically disproving that Mr. Wilfong's actions were outside the course and scope of his employment, the facts were not so undisputed that no conflicting inferences were possible; nor did the evidence show a relationship between Mr. Wilfong's actions and his work that was so attenuated that a jury could not reasonably conclude his actions were within the scope of his employment. Further, the "going and coming rule" is not applicable to the instant case, Thus, the issue of whether Mr. Wilfong was acting within the course and scope of his employment was a question of fact properly determined by the jury.]"

The Court's finding was consistent with the Trents' response to Roof Service's post-trial motion.

Prior to June 9, 2015 (date of the accident) Roof Service of Bridgeport, Inc., and Mr. and Mrs. Trent entered into a contract regarding the "re-roofing" of the Trents' home. (See Plaintiff's Exhibit 3 at App. 2176) This contract provided that in exchange for the plaintiffs paying Roof Service \$10,900.00 Roof Service would provide the following:

- 1. Removing old roofing, cleanup and haul away;
- 2. Install #30 Titanium underlayment;
- 3. Install drip edge at eaves;
- 4. Replace flanges;
- 5. Install rubber roofing under valleys;
- 6. Install nail over ridge vents,
- 7. Install Owens-Corning "TruDefinition Duration" Shingles- Estate Gray Color.

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